FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 2/6/2019 10:52 AM

SUPREME COURT NO. __96822-5 NO. 35483-1-III IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. DEBRA J. SHOEMAKER, Petitioner. ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CHELAN COUNTY The Honorable Lesley A. Allan, Judge PETITION FOR REVIEW JENNIFER J. SWEIGERT

JENNIFER J. SWEIGERT Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D.	REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED AND ARGUMENT
	THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW AND REMAND FOR RESENTENCING BECAUSE THE SENTENCING COURT VIOLATED WASHINGTON LAW IN RELYING ON UNPROVEN AND UNRELIABLE INFORMATION IN IMPOSING SENTENCE
E.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page				
WASHINGTON CASES				
State v. Ammons, 105 Wn.2d 175, 713 P.2d 719, 718 P.2d 796 (1986)7				
<u>State v. Conners,</u> 90 Wn. App. 48, 950 P.2d (1998)				
<u>State v. Ford,</u> 137 Wn.2d 472, 973 P.2d 452 (1999)				
<u>State v. Grayson,</u> 154 Wn.2d 333, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005)				
<u>State v. McNeair,</u> 88 Wn. App. 331, 944 P.2d 1099 (1997)				
RULES, STATUTES, AND OTHER AUTHORITIES				
RAP 13.46, 9, 10				
RCW 9.94A.5307, 8, 9				
RCW 9.94A.5377				
RCW 9.94A.5857				

A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/DECISION BELOW</u>

Debra Shoemaker, appellant below, requests this Court grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4 of the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals in State v. Shoemaker, No. 35843-1-III, filed January 8, 2019. A copy of the opinion is attached as an appendix.

B. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

Does a sentencing court violate due process and statutory sentencing procedures when it bases its sentence on disputed information provided by a victim investigator at sentencing that was neither admitted by the defendant nor proved at an evidentiary hearing?

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Shoemaker pled guilty to second-degree burglary and third-degree theft. CP 35-36. She agreed to pay restitution for any items proven taken in the burglary, even if the value exceeded the statutory \$750 cap for third-degree theft. 4/3/17RP 21-22. Shoemaker's statement in support of her guilty plea reads:

On January 24, 2016, in the City of Wenatchee, County of Chelan, I entered the house of another individual without permission with Cindy Simpson to take prescription pills for Cindy to sell. Cindy also packed a duffle bag with personal belongings of the residents. I carried the duffle bag out of the house and into the car. I knew Cindy would try to sell those items value less than \$750.00.

CP at 45. At her arrest, police found methamphetamine and a glass pipe for smoking in her purse. CP 1. A licensed psychologist at Eastern State Hospital diagnosed Shoemaker with possible Bipolar Disorder by History, polysubstance use disorder, borderline personality features, and posttraumatic stress disorder. CP 24-25. The psychologist also believed Shoemaker needed evaluation by a designated mental health provider due to her self-injurious behavior and borderline personality features. CP 29.

The State agreed to, and did, recommend a drug offender sentencing alternative (DOSA). It was undisputed that Shoemaker qualified for the sentencing alternative, which would allow her to participate in much-needed drug treatment. CP 49, 54-57. By the time of the sentencing hearing, Shoemaker was already registered for treatment set to begin the same day as sentencing. CP 54. At sentencing, the State argued her crime stemmed from a combination of drug addiction and mental illness, and that the DOSA would be the best sentence for her. 7/17/17RP 6.

At the hearing, attorney Steve Myers, a family friend of the burglary victim, George Harmon, spoke on his behalf. 7/17/17RP 6. In addition to speaking at the sentencing hearing, Myers had performed his own lengthy investigation into the burglary. 7/17/17RP 7. He presented numerous facts that were not admitted to in Shoemaker's plea. 7/17/17RP 7-15.

He claimed it was Shoemaker who learned, via her husband's connection with one of Harmon's relatives, that Harmon's wife had recently died and the home would be vacant while her grieving husband spent time with relatives out of town. 7/17/17RP 9. He claimed Shoemaker and a cohort, Cindy Simpson, then formed a plan to burglarize the home. Id.

Items taken in the burglary included ""virtually all . . . [of Harmon's] mementos—heirlooms, jewelry, clothing—that belonged to his wife including . . . his- and-her watches, his-and-hers diamond rings," a file containing important documents including the wife's death certificate and other identifying information, and Harmon's car. 7/17/17RP 11. Myers claimed that, when the car was found, it had been vacuumed, wiped clean of fingerprints, and the fob had been disassembled to prevent it being traced. 7/17/17RP 12.

Myers claimed the burglary was carefully planned, citing to surveillance camera video from a convenience store which, he claimed, showed Shoemaker leaving a cap and a latex glove, as well as the fact that they came prepared with a pry bar to "crack the double bolted garage door frame." 7/17/17RP 12-13.

Myers and Harmon's grandson opposed the DOSA and asked the court to impose prison time and the harshest sentence available. 7/17/17RP 15-16.

Defense counsel offered a different account of events. He argued someone else had returned after Shoemaker and Simpson and stolen additional items. 7/17/17RP 16-17. He argued Shoemaker had been candid when she denied knowledge of the whereabouts of Harmon's items. <u>Id.</u> He explained Shoemaker had told Simpson to return some of the stolen objects. Id.

Sharon Clifner, Shoemaker's psychiatric nurse practitioner, explained Shoemaker was the victim of domestic violence in her home, and tended to self-medicate for her mental illness with drugs. CP 64; 7/17/17RP 20. She explained that the DOSA would provide Shoemaker with a safe treatment environment. 7/17/17RP 20.

Shoemaker apologized for the burglary but denied taking any of Harmon's personal property. 7/17/17RP 17-18, 20-21. She acknowledged her mental illness, excessive gambling, poor choice of friends, use of controlled substances, and her need for treatment, which she promised to take seriously. 7/17/17 RP 21. Her attorney argued she told the family

everything she knew about where the stolen items ended up. 7/17/17RP 17.

Shoemaker twice argued with the court as it relied on Myers' statements to impose sentence. Shoemaker interrupted to say she had begged Simpson to return them, which led to Simpson kicking Shoemaker out of her home. 7/17/17RP 29. When the court declared Shoemaker had failed to assist the Harmons in retrieving their items and had not reported the theft to police, Shoemaker told the court she had purchased a cheap phone to tell the police Simpson intended to sell the stolen car. 7/17/17RP 30. She denied personally taking any of the items from the home. 7/17/17RP 30. A third time, when the court declared that she did nothing to help the family retrieve the items, Shoemaker interjected, "No, I did." 7/17/17RP 35.

The court found very compelling Myers' presentation of facts that went beyond the police reports. 7/17/17RP 28. The court specifically relied on its conclusion, based on Myers' presentation, that this was a "very calculated crime." 7/17/17RP 29. The court refused to grant the DOSA and instead sentenced Shoemaker to the high end of the standard range. 7/17/17RP 35.

On appeal, Shoemaker argued the court erred considering disputed facts presented by Myers without holding an evidentiary hearing and, alternatively, counsel was ineffective when he did not object to Myers' presentation. The Court of Appeals concluded Shoemaker did not sufficiently dispute the additional facts to require an evidentiary hearing, and that, even if counsel had objected, an evidentiary hearing would not have led to a different outcome. App. at 14-15, 17. Judge George Fearing authored a dissenting opinion. He would have held that Shoemaker disputed at least some of the presented facts and the sentencing court should have held an evidentiary hearing. He would have remanded for a new sentencing hearing. Shoemaker asks this Court to grant review.

D. <u>REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED AND ARGUMENT</u>

THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW AND REMAND FOR RESENTENCING BECAUSE THE SENTENCING COURT VIOLATED WASHINGTON LAW IN RELYING ON UNPROVEN AND UNRELIABLE INFORMATION IN IMPOSING SENTENCE.

Shoemaker asks this Court to grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) because this case presents a significant constitutional issue of public interest. Shoemaker's request for a DOSA sentence was denied based on unproven facts alleged by a victim advocate without an evidentiary hearing.

Generally, a court's decision to impose a standard range sentence, is not appealable. State v. Conners, 90 Wn. App. 48, 53, 950 P.2d (1998); see RCW 9.94A.585(1). However, a defendant may appeal a constitutional violation or a violation of the statutorily mandated procedure in imposing sentence. State v. Ammons, 105 Wn.2d 175, 183, 713 P.2d 719, 718 P.2d 796 (1986); State v. McNeair, 88 Wn. App. 331, 336-37, 944 P.2d 1099 (1997). This case involves a violation of Washington's sentencing law and constitutional due process.

Both constitutional due process and Washington law preclude a sentencing judge from relying on any information that is not proved to a jury or admitted by the defendant. RCW 9.94A.530(2); State v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 472, 973 P.2d 452 (1999). The Sentencing Reform Act provides that, in imposing a standard range sentence, "the trial court may rely on no more information than is admitted by the plea agreement, or admitted, acknowledged, or proved in a trial or at the time of sentencing, or proven pursuant to RCW 9.94A.537." RCW 9.94A.530(2). The purpose of this provision is to prevent "sentencing based on speculative facts." State v. Grayson, 154 Wn.2d 333, 340, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005).

When a fact is disputed, "the court must either not consider the fact or grant an evidentiary hearing on the point." RCW 9.94A.530(2). At the evidentiary hearing, the burden of proof is by a preponderance of the

evidence. <u>Id.</u> Reliance on speculative or untested facts violates due process. <u>Id.</u>; <u>Ford</u>, 137 Wn.2d at 481.

As Judge Fearing pointed out in his dissent, Shoemaker clearly disputed at least some of the information Myers was presenting. Defense counsel argued Shoemaker did not take Harmon's property; someone else returned to the home after them. 7/17/17RP 16-17. Counsel argued Shoemaker was surprised when she learned what had been taken. 7/17/17RP 17-18. Shoemaker told the court she worked with the family to try to get the items back and begged Simpson to return them, going so far as to fight with her. 7/17/17 RP 29. Shoemaker told the court she did not personally steal any personal items from the house. 7/17/17 RP 30. Defense counsel argued Shoemaker told police and the Harmon family everything she knew about the location of their property. 7/17/17RP 17. These critical facts, regarding whether Shoemaker had access to the Harmons' items and whether she tried to facilitate their return were disputed.

Shoemaker was entitled to a fundamentally fair sentencing proceeding. She was entitled to have her request for the drug offender sentencing alternative considered and not denied based on untested and speculative information. <u>Grayson</u>, 154 Wn.2d at 340. Before the court relied on facts asserted by a paid victim advocate, in direct contravention

of her own statements and arguments, she was entitled to have those factual disputes resolved at an evidentiary hearing, rather than simply have the victim advocate's account accepted as gospel. RCW 9.94A.530(2).

The mere failure to specifically request an evidentiary hearing does not discharge the trial court's duty to resolve disputed facts. RCW 9.94A.530(2). The trigger for the duty to hold an evidentiary hearing is a "dispute." <u>Id.</u> Shoemaker's statements and her counsel's arguments at sentencing clearly indicated the existence of a dispute with numerous facts presented by Myers. Thus, by law, the court was required to either hold a hearing to resolve whether these facts were proved by a preponderance of the evidence or disregard them entirely. RCW 9.94A.530(2). Because the court instead simply relied on them in departing from the sentence that both the defense and the State agreed was appropriate under the circumstances, this Court should remand for a new sentencing hearing.

This case implicates two of this Court's criteria governing review. First, the Court of Appeals opinion presents a significant constitutional question, namely, Shoemaker's due process right to be sentenced based on information that meets minimum indicia of reliability. Ford, 137 Wn.2d at 481. Therefore, review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Second, this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because this case implicates the public interest. As the court noted in Ford, "To uphold

procedurally defective sentencing hearings would send the wrong message to trial courts, criminal defendants, and the public." 137 Wn.2d at 484.

E. **CONCLUSION**

This Court should grant review and remand to clarify that sentencing courts may not rely on unadmitted and unproven information without holding an evidentiary hearing and that a mere failure to lodge a formal objection does not amount to admitting disputed facts. RAP 13.4 (b) (3) and

(4).