FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/26/2019 11:26 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 96822-5

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 35483-1-III

Chelan County Superior Court Cause No. 16-1-00490-4

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

DEBRA JEAN SHOEMAKER, Defendant/Petitioner.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Douglas J. Shae Chelan County Prosecuting Attorney

Andrew B. Van Winkle WSBA #45219 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Chelan County Prosecuting Attorney's Office P.O. Box 2596 Wenatchee, Washington 98807-2596 (509) 667-6204

#

# I. Identity of Respondent and Decision Below

The State of Washington, respondent, by and through its attorney, Andrew B. Van Winkle, Deputy Prosecutor for Chelan County, asks this Court to deny review of the opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Shoemaker*, No. 35483-1-III, (Unpublished) (filed January 8, 2019).

# II. Counter-Statement of Issues Presented for Review

- 1. Has Ms. Shoemaker met her burden of showing that this case is not moot?
- 2. Did Ms. Shoemaker or her lawyer contest any facts during sentencing, which would have required the sentencing court to conduct an evidentiary hearing pursuant to RCW 9.94A.530(2)?

# III. Statement of the Case

Ms. Debra Shoemaker pleaded guilty to burglary in the second degree and theft in the third degree. CP 37-46. The plea was based on a burglary the she and a co-defendant committed against an 86 year old gentleman. CP 1-2; RP 9.

At sentencing, the State and the defendant both recommended a residential drug offender sentencing alternative (residential DOSA), based in part on Ms. Shoemaker's mental health history and the shared view that she was less culpable than her co-defendant. RP 5-6, 18-19.

However, the victim's family recommended a prison sentence. RP 15. In the end, the superior court imposed 22 months in prison, which was the high end of the standard range. CP 71.

During sentencing, Steve Myers, an attorney and family friend of the victim, addressed the court to provide the victim impact statement. RP 6-15, 22-24. Mr. Myers was intimately involved with the case throughout its 18-month saga. RP 7.

As stated by the Court, some of those facts he presented were not in the police reports acknowledged by the defendant. RP 28-29. However, he only provided facts within his personal knowledge from investigating this case with the victim's Washington lawyer, Tyler Hotchkiss, including from interviews he personally conducted with the defendant. RP 10-11.

The court did not swear Mr. Myers in as a witness, nor did any party ask to have him sworn in or to examine/cross-examine him. On appeal, the only real questions were whether the court was required—on its own initiative—to have sworn him in and conducted an evidentiary hearing pursuant to RCW 9.94A.530(2) and/or whether her lawyer committed ineffective assistance for failing to request an evidentiary hearing. Majority slip op. at 1.

Ultimately, the Court of Appeals affirmed because "[a]t no point when Mr. Myers was recounting this information did Ms. Shoemaker object or contend that some different evidentiary hearing was required." Majority slip op. at 7. Judge Fearing dissented on the grounds that Ms. Shoemaker and her attorney did dispute some of the facts presented by Mr. Myers, thus triggering the court's duty under RCW 9.94A.530(2). Dissenting slip op. at 10. Thus, the sole issue in front of this Court is a factual one—did the majority correctly read the report of proceedings or did the dissent correctly read the report of proceedings?

# IV. Argument

Ms. Shoemaker seeks review of her sentencing (specifically denial of a DOSA sentence) under RAP 13.4(b)(3), and (4). Under RAP 13.4(b)(3) she argues that she was denied adequate due process at her sentencing hearing and thus this case presents a significant constitutional question. Under RAP 13.4(b)(4) she argues there is an issue of substantial public interest concerning how facts are decided at sentencing. The State addresses each of these grounds in the order presented after first explaining why this case is moot.

# A. This Court should decline to accept review because the case is moot.

"An issue is moot if it is not possible for this court to provide effective relief. Mootness is a jurisdictional concern and may be raised at any time. When an appeal is moot, it should be dismissed." State v. Deskins, 180 Wn.2d 68, 80, 322 P.3d 780 (2014).

In the present case, Ms. Shoemaker and the State both requested she receive a residential DOSA. RP 5-6, 18-19. Instead, the court sided with the victims and imposed 22 months in prison. RP 35. On appeal, Ms. Shoemaker's sole request for relief was resentencing in front of another judge so she could make another

DOSA request. App. Br. at 33. Due to the passage of time, this Court can no longer provide that requested relief.

Ms. Shoemaker was sentenced on July 17, 2017. CP 67. She was sentenced to 22 months in prison. CP 71. This would give a maximum potential release date of May 17, 2019. But, under RCW 9.94A.729(3)(e), Ms. Shoemaker was eligible to receive up to a third of that time off in earned early release credit. As evidenced by the attached notice of infraction pertaining to Ms. Shoemaker, it is clear that she was long-ago released from prison with credit for that full 22 months. *See* Apx. A. Because Ms. Shoemaker has already served her entire sentence, this Court cannot provide her with effective relief.

In fact, resentencing Ms. Shoemaker to a DOSA at this point would only be to her detriment. That is because a residential DOSA for Ms. Shoemaker would require 2 years of supervision, meaning she would have to serve an additional 2 months of confinement<sup>1</sup> in the form of community custody. RCW 9.94A.664(1). Furthermore, a person is only allowed two DOSA sentences within a ten year

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> the balance of 24 months less 22 months already served

period. RCW 9.94A.660(1)(g). Using a DOSA sentence when a person has already completed their standard range of confinement is, strategically, a waste of a sentencing alternative in the event Ms. Shoemaker commits additional felonies within the next ten years.

# B. The Court of Appeals's decision does not merit review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because the dispute in this case is factual, not constitutional.

Ms. Shoemaker seeks review of her sentence under the guise that it presents a significant question of law under either the State or Federal Constitutions. This argument for review fails because RAP 13.4(b)(3) is limited to questions requiring interpretation of specific constitutional provisions or application of specific constitutional provisions to facts or other laws. *E.g. State v. Halstien*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 115, 857 P.2d 270 (1993) (granting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) to address constitutional vagueness and overbreadth challenges); *Spokane v. Douglass*, 115 Wn.2d 171, 176, 795 P.2d 693 (1990) (granting review to address constitutional validity of municipal ordinance).

In this case, the only true dispute is whether Ms. Shoemaker contested any facts, which would have triggered the sentencing

court's duty to conduct an evidentiary hearing under RCW 9.94A.530. Although Ms. Shoemaker made an argument in her Appellant's Brief under the heading of "due process," the true thrust of the argument under that section was the claimed statutory violation. App. Br. at 21-23.

# C. The Court of Appeals's decision does not merit review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the fact-specific nature of this case is not a matter of substantial public interest.

Ms. Shoemaker's other reason for review is that this case "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). She argues that this case presents an issue of substantial public interest because "To uphold procedurally defective sentencing hearings would send the wrong message to trial courts, criminal defendants, and the public." Pet. For Rev'w at 9-10 (quoting *State v. Ford*, 137 Wn.2d 472, 973 P.2d 452 (1999)). But, whether or not the sentence was "procedurally defective" turns on whether or not Judge Fearing was right in his dissent where he found that Ms. Shoemaker disputed facts (thus triggering the requirement for an evidentiary hearing). *See* Pet. for Rev'w at 8. Whether or not Ms. Shoemaker did in fact

dispute facts is not a matter of substantial public interest because all parties agree that if she did, then the sentencing court had a duty to conduct an evidentiary hearing under RCW 9.94A.530(2). Because the parties agree on the law, further resolution of this factual quibble will not have an impact on any future cases.

### V. Conclusion

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, the State respectfully requests this Court deny review of the issues raised by Ms. Shoemaker.